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Fic. 1.—TyYCHE AND PLUTUS (from « column of the Hall).

EXCAVATIONS OF THE BRITISH SCHOOL AT MELOS.

Tue HALL oF THE MYSTAE.
[PraTEs L—IIL]

THE Hall of the Mystae is a Roman building on the western slope of the
ancient town of Melos. The principal object and result of the excavation
begun by Mr. D. Mackenzie and myself in April and extended by Mr. Cecil
Smith in May 1896, was to put on record its fine mosaic pavement. We
were fortunate in being able to call to our aid a skilful and indefatigable
draughtsman. Mr. Charles Clark, architect to the School, joined us in Melos
as soon as he could be spared from the Athens excavations, and worked upon
the mosaic for several weeks in the full heat and glare of a Mediterranean
summer. Of the illustrations, fruits of his patient labour, which this paper
serves to introduce, Plate I. represents the two figured panels on the scale of
1:25, and is a very faithful rendering of their general effect; while Plate II.
gives part of the finest panel on the scale of 1:5, and shows the method of
execution in detail ; it is reproduced from one of a series of rubbings’ coloured
cube by cube upon the spot, which are practically full-size facsimiles of all
the principal figures. The spirited figure of the cock (Plate IIL.), supplied by
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another rubbing, gives a good idea of the life-like force of the design.
For the restoration attempted in the key-plan (Fig. 4) we are jointly respon-
sible.

The mosaic seems to date from the first half of the third century.

The site is marked H on a sketch-plan of the ancient town which accom-
panies Mr. Cecil Smith’s account of our work in Melos (J .H. S. xvi. p. 348). Mr.
Cecil Smith has there described the mosaic (p. 854); he has since published
two inscriptions which we found there and inferred from them that the place
belonged to a Society of Dionysiac Mystae (/. /1. S. xvii. p. 14).

Previous Hustory of the Site.

This conclusion is confirmed by the fact that other inscriptions naming
the Mystae have been found at the same spot. An Athenian magazine! of the
year 1862 contains the following among other archaeological news: ‘ In Melos
in the ground called Tpeuiwf/a near the ancient theatre in the course of an
excavation made by private persons there was lately found a mosaic pavement
said to be about 40 m. in length, a wall of squared stones with a door in it
and various marble sculptures bearing inscriptions, apparently of Roman date.’
After describing them the report goes on ‘the excavation is being made
with the knowledge and indeed under the supervision of the local authorities.’
How little this meant is implied by the words which follow, ¢ we hope that
the objects found may not be dispersed, as has happened on other occasions.’
Finally it is suggested that an ephor should be sent from Athens. From
enquiries made on the spot, it appears that there was no official excavation ;
the Government contented itself with stopping the enterprise of the ‘private
persons’ and securing the marbles for the Athens Museum, where they now
are. They consist of a bust of Aurelia Euposia (Fig. 8) set up év 74 8/
avtiis &pye by certain IlepBwuror (Cavvadias’ Catalogue 424)2 the head of a
young man bound with a fillet (Catalogue 459), and two columns, the ends of
which have been sawn off for convenience of transport. On one of these columns
is incised a figure of Athene, on the other that of the Good Fortune of Melos,
and in each case there is inscribed a prayer that the Goddess may be pro-
pitious to Alexander, founder of the Holy Mystae (xtloTy elepdv pvaradv).
They are fully described and published in a valuable article by Wolters on
‘ Melische Kultstatuen’ (A¢th. Mitth. xv. 1890, p. 246). The figure of the
Tyche of Melos has acquired a certain importance in the history of art
since Furtwingler used its testimony in support of his restoration of the
Melian Aphrodite It is reproduced in Fig. 1.

! ®lorwp, vol. ii. p. 274. Copied thence last volume (xvii) of this Journal. The
into the Arch. Anzeiger, 1861, p. 234, and .carly notices mention a headless bust and fwo
Bullettino, 1862, p. 86. See especially the heads. The second of these may have been the
article by Wolters, Ath. Mitth. xv. 1890, p.  head which is now fitted to the bust.

246, to which I refer below. 8 Meisterwerke, p. 624. English edition, p.
% The inscription is published on p. 16 of the  381.
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The description of the site as év 77 8éaer Tpepivbia mpos 16 éxel apyaip
Oedrpe is accurate in the sense that the hill-side8called Tramithia and the
theatre are in the same part of the island; but they lie ten minutes walk
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Fi16. 2,.—VIEW FrROM THE EAst END.

apart on different sides of the central acropolis-ridge. The identity of that
site with ours, which is in Tramithia! but not near to the theatre, is put

! We have usually followed Ehrenberg’s map  tion. The form Tpeuwbia suggests a derivation
(Leipzig, 1889) in spelling the name Tramythia, from 7péu:6os =Tépuivbos. Steph. Byz. mentions
but Tramithia is as near to the local pronuncia- a place called Tpeuifods (v.l. Tpeuvois) in
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beyond a doubt by our discovery of columns of the same diameter and material
as those in the Athens Museum and by the local story that parts of such
columns had been sawn off and sent to Athens with other marbles from this
site. An idea of the lie of the ground may be gained from Mr. Clark’s
sketches, figs 2 and 3, and from the key-plan on the opposite page. That
part of the site which was first pointed out to us as containing a mosaic was
a small field just south of a mule-path which leads from the villages on the
heights to the Tramithia landing-place. Like most other fields on those
highly cultivated hill-sides it is a terrace bounded by higher and lower terraces,
each supported by a massive retaining wall locally called rpdos (for Tdppos).
In this case there was a rising ¢raphos to the east and a descending ¢traphos to
the south; the other sides of the rectangle were formed by the mule-road which
gradually descends from the higher level of the terrace on the east to the lower
level of that on the south, curving round our field and cutting off its north-west
corner. The course of the road-wall and of the terrace-wall to the east is
shown by the dotted lines W W on the key-plan; it was only under them that
we found the mosaic in first-rate preservation. The field has a downward slope
from east to west, and at the lower end the pavement had been obliterated by
cultivation ; further east, where there was some depth of soil to protect it,
considerable injury had been caused by the recklessness of the excavators of
1861. It wasthen thata great part of the fish-panel was destroyed. They dug
as far as the eastern terrace-wall, and seem then to have worked down from the
upper field and to have penetrated as far as the door in the east wall of the
Roman building ; but the Tpdpos between the two terraces happened to be
the boundary between two properties, and that fact preserved it inviolate and
with it the whole panel of the vines which lay below. This belt of unknown
ground had weighed on the consciences of local treasure-hunters ever since.
We heard of at least two attempts to explore it. Inone case the adventurers
tunnelled under the road, breaking through the north wall of the Roman
building, and worked along its inner face as far as the corner-column A which
is still in situ. They dared not go further, fearing that the mass of stones
overhead would fall in on them, and retired by the way they had come, but
not before they had found a marble head. This head, which was sold to the
Athens Archaeological Society in 1884 and passed with their collections into
the National Museum, has since proved to belong to the statue of a hierophant
which we found lying on the mosaic in 1896 (Fig. 6).

Cyprus and derives the name &xd 7@v mepl Tdv  island. For place-names in Greece derived
Témoy wepurkwidy Tepulvbwy, &s Tpior Tpeuffovs  from trees see Tozer, Highlands of Turkey, ii.
kahobgr. The name would be formed like that  p. 107. Sibthorp (Florae Graecac Prodromus, ii.
of Pauvois in Attica = Pauvdeis from pduvos.  p. 256) and Fiedler (Reise, i. p. 539) say that
The form 7péuibos is further attested by Nicand.  Pistachia Terebinthus grows abundantly in the
Ther. 844 Tpeutfoio véov moAveidéa kapmdv. Greek islands. Both give the modern Greek

The Melian ’s 7hv Tpapi6ia seems parallel to  name as rerpdufos. Mr. Bickford Smith gives
s Ty Zvis and s 7y MAdravid in the same  7paufifn as the Cretan form.
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The Building.

We demolished the eastern terrace-wall, cleared the remains of mosaic
in the lower field, and found that we had two panels and part of a third.
Later Mr. Cecil Smith pulled down the wall on the north and uncovered a
long strip of mosaic, which not only proved the existence of a fourth panel,
but also preserved just so much of the geometric design of a fifth as
enabled us to complete it and to determine the dimensions of the whole.

The building was a long hall running east and west, 8-32 m. wide and at
least 28 m. long (27 ft. 4 in. X 75 ft.). The east and north walls are in great
part preserved ; the south wall has almost disappeared, but enough remains
to justify us in restoring it on the analogy of the north; the west end is
wholly destroyed. The tessellated pavement did not occupy the whole width
of the hall; along either side ran a stylobate 1-50 m. broad, raised 0'27 m.
(10% inches) above the floor, supporting a row of unfluted marble columns.
Of the marble slabs of the stylobate only one survives; it is under the single
base which remains in position; but the dwarf walls which carried the stylo-
bate are preserved, 14 cm. high. As for the columns, A is in place and the
position of the two adjoining columns is indicated by blocks which once
supported the marble slabs under their bases ; they give 3:32 m. (10 ft. 10 in.)
as the intercolumniation.

The exact length of the hall was not determined; this might
possibly have been done by digging for the foundations of the north-west
angle from the field beyond the road; but there was great risk of injuring
some valuable olive-trees. We dug down at the only possible place, where
there happened to be a gap in the olive-grove, and found the outer face of
the north wall (at F in key-plan) under the roadway, some five feet below the
level of the mosaic. This part of the wall probably dated from Hellenistic
times and originally rose above ground, for it was better built than the upper
part, and along its foot there was an accumulation of pottery ranging from
third-century Greek to Roman. The evidence is slight, but one is inclined to
infer that the Hall of the Mystae stands on the site of a Greek building,
using its walls as foundations; in that case the earlier floor-level may be
some feet below the mosaic. Beyond the point where we suppose the west
wall to have stood the ground falls away ; had the building extended further in
that direction it would have required very massive substructures; but of
these no trace remains. It can hardly therefore have been longer even by
one intercolumniation than we have shown it in the key-plan. On the other
hand the remains of the mosaic prove that it cannot have been shorter.
The restoration of seven columns on each side may be regarded as fairly
certain,

We were also unable to dig as far as we wished to the east. Once
beyond the shelter of the thick terrace-wall we found that the whole area in
the upper field had been ransacked and filled in with stones. We cleared
part of the little chamber at the north-east angle and worked some feet
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beyond the large door in the east wall, but there were no mosaics. As the
débris was eight feet deep and difficult to handle we did not feel justified in
going further for the sake of completing our plan.

It is probable that the principal entrance was at the west end, and the
east doorway led from the body of the hall into a chancel-like extension, an
&8vTov opening out of the Tehearrjprov. Just such an inner sanctuary may
be seen in the plan of the Baccheion, a building much like ours in date and
character, excavated by Dr. Dorpfeld between the Pnyx and the Areopagus.!
The internal arrangements of the hall are in agreement with the view that
this was its principal end. Of the five mosaic panels the western is the
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F1¢. 3.—View FroM THE WEST END,

simplest, the eastern the most elaborate. Close to this doorway in the south-
east angle stood a square structure (D in key-plan), obviously of importance,
for the outer border of the mosaic was compressed and cut short to leave room
for it ; it must have been a small shrine or altar? In a niche on the opposite
side (C on key-plan) stood in all probability the statue of a priest to be dis-
cussed later, which we found fallen on the pavement. Before giving up the
idea of exploring the supposed adytum we sank a pit 8 m. east of the mosaic,
and found fragments of a wall covered with red stucco, its floor-level being

v Ath. Mitih. xx. p. 161, Taf. iv. Overbeck, Pompeti, p.268, Presuhn, Die Neuesten
2 In position and perhaps in form it re-  Ausgrabungen, i. Taf. iv., vi. Taf. ii.
sembled the ‘house-altars’ of Pompeii. Cf.

H.8,—VOL. XVIII, F
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